STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Apr 14 2021
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Chester County

Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MONTRELL GRAHAM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2020-000250

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

QUESTION I

The lower court erred in denying appellant's directed verdict motion on the accessory charge because appellant had no knowledge that the co-defendant committed a felony and no intent to assist the co-defendant.

QUESTION II

The lower court erred in denying the defense an opportunity to impeach the state's key witness, Kochese Gregory, with his prior manslaughter conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Montrell Graham was convicted of accessory after the fact to the commission of a felony¹ per jury trial held during the February 2020 term of the Chester County General Sessions Court before Judge J. Derham Cole. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for a period of fifteen years, suspended upon the service of five years followed by five years probation. Appellant was represented at trial by William Frick, Esquire, and Assistant Attorney General Candice Lively appeared on behalf of the state.

Appellant appealed. This brief follows.

¹ Appellant's co-defendant Quinton Tywan McClinton was tried along with appellant at trial and found guilty of attempted murder, assault and battery in the first degree, and possession of a firearm.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Directed Verdict

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. At 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. At 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409.

Impeachment

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial [court’s] discretion, provided the [trial court] conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 324, 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429-30, 632 S.E.2d 845, 848 (2006).

QUESTION I

The lower court erred in denying appellant's directed verdict motion on the accessory charge because appellant had no knowledge that the co-defendant committed a felony and no intent to assist the co-defendant.

The event that gave rise to the accessory charge in this case was a Christmas gathering that began on December 24, 2018, at Images Club in Chester, South Carolina. The melee occurred between several patrons at the club on that night, which led to the shooting of one Kochese Gregory. The state alleged that co-defendant McClinton shot Kochese Gregory during the shoot-out and that appellant drove McClinton to his (McClinton's) home after Kochese Gregory was shot². Although the fighting began when CiCi Whitlock threw a drink or cup with a drink in Gregory Killian's face, somehow Kochese Gregory, who was at the club and did not throw a drink in anyone's face, was attacked by the men in the club, and as Gregory Kochese moved outside to escape, he ended up wounded by gunfire. The state's witnesses' testimony established that there was mass fighting and shooting everywhere and that no one knew who was being beaten or shot as it was impossible to know this due to the high level of sheer and complete chaos and bedlam at the crime scene.

Kochese Gregory testified that he was inside the club until it was closing and that when he made his move to the poolroom partition in the club, he was physically attacked and beat by McClinton and a host of other people. Kochese Gregory explained that after the beating, he tried to exit through the door to the outside, and then he turned and saw "McClinton lean over the white car and [shoot]." McClinton was in the parking lot outside according to Kochese Gregory. Kochese Gregory stated that he went back into the poolroom side to tell people that he had been

² Appellant drove McClinton and McClinton's brother Carlton Dion, who was also at the club during the event, away from the club when the event ended.

shot. R. 225, 1.23-p.242, 1.11. Kochese Gregory suffered a gunshot wound to his torso. R 210, 1.22 – p. 211, 1.10.

The elements of accessory after the fact to a crime are 1.) the felony has been completed; 2.) the accused must have knowledge that the principal committed the felony; and 3.) the accused must harbor or assist the principal felon. See State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 495 S.E.2d 202 (1998). In Collins, supra, the Court held that one’s mere presence at the scene of the crime would not preclude one’s conviction as an accessory after the fact and overruled precedent that the absence of the accessory was required.³

The OK Corral shoot-out in this case involved so many perpetrators that it was nearly impossible to have proved appellant had no knowledge as to which of the numerous perpetrators committed the violent crimes at the scene, much less which perpetrator shot Kochese Gregory. The witnesses didn’t know who shot or fought whom. For example, Kochese Gregory testified that it was “pandemonium” at the scene because he was attacked by people with pool sticks, and “their feet,” and that “they were stomping [him],” and “they beat [him],” and that these people numbered “fifteen” or more were “all over [him],” and then “they...dispersed,” R. 230, 1.15-p. 233, 1.1. Note further that the melee and commotion continued in the parking lot because although Kochese Gregory saw McClinton in the parking lot; nonetheless, the parking lot was filled with numerous people outside who were firing gunshots. Kochese Gregory added that there were so many shots fired from the parking lot that the shots were “ringing out.” R. 236, 1.1-5,

³ State v. Plath, 277 S.C. 126, 284 S.E.2d 221 (1981); State v. Whitted, 279 S.C. 260, 305 S.E.2d 245 (1983); State v. Hudgins, 319 S.C. 233, 460 S.E.2d 388 (1995); Court denied 116 S. ct. 821 (1996).

This was confirmed by the solicitor who argued at closing that there were eighteen shell casings found in the parking lot. R. 423, 1.18-25⁴

The eyewitnesses confirmed that the club event in question was total mayhem, which again meant that it was difficult to know who shot whom. At trial, James Young testified that it was a “big fight” at the club on that night, and that he didn’t know if McClinton and appellant were outside because there were “a lot of us out there,” and that he “seen (sic) people jumping on [Kochese Gregory],” and added that Gregory Williams was also fighting Kochese Gregory. R. 64. L.22-24; R. 66, 1.2-4; R. 66, 1.16-25. Young stated further that a lot of shots were fired with his estimate of more than ten. R. 76, 1.4-12.

Gregory Killian testified that he was at the club on that night when it was closing and that the confusion and chaos began when CiCi Whitlock approached him and threw a drink in his face, while three or four guys stood beside CiCi Whitlock, and that somehow he (Grgory Killian) and McClinton exchanged heated words, and afterwards the commotion continued outside the club. Gregory Killian stated that there was also one by the name of Chocolate Pudding involved in the mix. Apparently, someone was angry at his brother Kelvin Killian, who was a bouncer on that night, when the problems began. However, Gregory Killian claimed that he did not see McClinton shoot or fight Kochese Gregory, and that he did not recall seeing Kochese Gregory at the scene until he was shot. Finally, Gregory Killian testified that he did not know appellant and did not see him that night at the club. R. 42, 1.1-p.60, 1.25.

Bernice June stated that she was present at the club on the night of the shooting when she heard gunfire and knew that “[McClinton] and them were shooting like hell” outside. R. 83, 1.1-

⁴ Solicitor’s closing: [H]e saw the chaos that was going on, He then said...McClinton get his by Tina Davis’ car and he’s limping...as he is headed to the car...he started ducking because there was gunfire...18 shell casings into parking lot were found...that’s a whole lot of shooting. R. 423, 1.16-25.

p.87, l.4; R. 95, l.1-3. Bernice said she did not recall saying that she saw McClinton shooting on that night. R. 97, l.3-p.98, l.6.

Daverican Gregory, aka Chocolate Pudding, testified that the fight began with a confrontation between Troy Killian, CiCi Whitlock, and Antonio Killian, aka Kelvin Killian, who was Gregory Killian's brother. Daverican Gregory stated that he never saw all the men (McClinton, Carlton Dixon and appellant) shooting at the crime scene. Also, Daverican Gregory stated that Kochese Gregory was not present when CiCi Whitlock threw the drink, and that there were ten to fifteen people inside fighting and that on the outside shots rang out everywhere. Daverican Gregory stated that he did not see Kochese Gregory. R. 99, l.9-p. 118, l.6.

State's witness Kelvin Killian testified that he and George Killian (his brother) were present at the club and that he (Kelvin Killian) was working as the security guard on the night in question. Kelvin Killian stated that the fighting began when CiCi Whitlock threw a cup in Gregory Killian's face, and thereafter McClinton hit him, but added that there were "so many people fighting," and that there were "people everywhere," and that there was fighting outside as well. Kelvin Killian stated further that he did not see the shootings (only heard gunfire). Nevertheless, Kelvin Killian gave a statement identifying McClinton as the shooter, but testified at trial that he didn't know who shot whom because he could not make or confirm an identification on that subject. R. 120, l.7-p. 134, l.6.

Tina (Terquila) Clifton testified that she was at the club on the night in question and witnessed all the fighting inside, but she moved away when the shootings began, and went on to explain that most people were "copy-cattin'" with the assessment that McClinton shot Kochese Gregory, and admitted that she saw guys with their arms extended out, but did not know who they were at the time. R. 134, l.17-p. 149, l.16.

Benika Kershaw stated that she went to her car after the drink was thrown in Gregory Killian's face and when the fighting began, and then drove to the gas station across the street in order to watch the action. Kershaw noted that there were "so many individuals" that were fighting, and that "they" were beating an individual on the ground, and that she gave the police names of perpetrators based on what other people were saying, but could not "pinpoint" the identity of the perpetrators. R. 163, 1.5 p. 182, 1.23; R. 202, 1.6-p. 203, 1.8.

At the close of the case, defense counsel moved for a directed verdict on the accessory charge on the ground that appellant had no knowledge that a crime had been committed by the co-defendant, and furthermore had no intent to assist the felon. R. 396, 1. 16 – p.397, 1. 19; R.398, 1.21 – p. 401, 1.1. the trial judge denied the motion. R. 401, lines 2-10.

A judge should grant a directed verdict motion when there is only a suspicion that the accused is guilty. State v. Moore, 374 S.C. 468, 649 S.E.2d 84 (2007). Due process requires the prosecution to establish every element of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S.307 (1970). In the instant case, there was insufficient proof that appellant had knowledge that co-defendant McClinton assaulted and shot Gregory because of the complete disorder at the scene coupled with the incredibly high concentration of people there armed with pool sticks and guns. The testimony of the eyewitnesses proved this. Moreover, not one witness could swear with certainty which perpetrator did what during the rumpus; and therefore, appellant likewise witnessed so much confusion there that the state could not establish sufficient proof what appellant saw of the fifteen or more people in the ruckus and as a result, the state did not establish sufficient proof that appellant had knowledge that McClinton beat and/or shot Kochese Gregory. The incident was a chaotic war zone. There was no proof that there was any intent to assist anyone just because appellant decided to exit the crime scene. Note that

defense witness Joseph Foster testified that Gregory was armed and shooting out to the parking lot during the incident. R. 408, 1.9-p.411, 1.4. There were so many different accounts and so many different recollections of the mass beatings and shootings that it was impossible to prove that appellant had knowledge that his codefendant committed attempted murder and assault or intended to assist with an escape. The lower court erred in denying appellant's directed verdict motion on the accessory charge, which meant that his ultimate conviction was in violation of due process under the Fourteenth Amendment.

QUESTION II

The lower court erred in denying the defense an opportunity to impeach the state's key witness, Kochese Gregory, with his prior manslaughter conviction.

At trial, the defense sought to impeach Kochese Gregory on his prior involuntary manslaughter conviction for which he served five years and was released on May 1, 2018. The shooting event in question occurred on December 25, 2018, and the instant trial commenced on February 3, 2020. R. 158, 1.17-p.160, 1.8. The state argued that the prior in question was not admissible because ten years had lapsed between the date of conviction or release from prison, and the trial judge agreed and ruled against the admissibility of the prior at issue in the case. R. 160, 1.10-p.162, 1.13. Rule 609(b), SCRE states the following:

(b) Time Limit. Evidence of a conviction under this rule is not admissible if a period of more than ten years has elapsed since the date of the conviction or of the release of the witness from the confinement imposed for that conviction, whichever is the later date, unless the court determines, in the interests of justice, that the probative value of the conviction supported by specific facts and circumstances substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect. However, evidence of a conviction more than 10 years old...is not admissible unless the proponent gives to the adverse party sufficient advance written notice of intent to use such evidence.