RECEIVED

Mar 30 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chester County
The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000250

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MONTRELL GRAHAM,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

104 N. Main Street
Lancaster, SC 29720
(803)-416-9367

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the trial judge properly deny Appellant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal when the State produced evidence that Appellant: participated in the physical assault of Victim, fired a weapon along with Codefendant, and drove Codefendant away from the scene of the crime after Appellant acknowledged Codefendant had a gun and shot it three times?

II.

Did the trial judge properly refuse to admit evidence of Victim's prior conviction for involuntary manslaughter when the conviction occurred outside the ten year time limit of Rule 609(b) SCRE and when Appellant failed to establish the probative value of the conviction substantially outweighed its prejudicial effect? Additionally, did the State v. Colf factors weigh in favor of excluding Victim's prior conviction when Victim's credibility was not central to the State's case against Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2019, the Chester County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for one count of accessory after the fact to a felony. On February 3-7, 2020, a jury trial was held in the Chester County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable J. Derham Cole presiding. Appellant was represented by William Frick, Esq. The State was represented by Deputy Solicitor Candice Lively and Assistant Solicitor Kaitlyn Easler of the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office. At the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Appellant as indicted. The trial judge sentenced Appellant to a term of five years' imprisonment followed by five years' probation. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal and an initial brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 24, 2018 a birthday party was held at Club Images in Chester County for a man named “Chi Chi.” (R. 136, 164). The guests who attended the party included Appellant, Kochese Gregory (Victim), and Quinton McClinton (Codefendant). (R. 95, 101, 228). Codefendant went by the nickname “Tril.” (R. 92). In the early morning hours of December 25, 2018 as the club was about to close, CiCi Whitlock threw a drink in the face of George “Big Troy” Killian. (R. 42, 45, 105, 170, 414). After the drink was thrown, a large fight ensued between Whitlock, Killian, and others. (R. 124). During the melee, Appellant and Codefendant began to kick Victim and assault him with pool sticks. (R. 230-34). Victim managed to get to his feet and tried to seek refuge inside the club, but the doors were locked. (R. 231, 235). As he was attempting to get inside the club, Victim turned to see Codefendant shoot him with a gun. (R. 231, 235). Victim testified he was absolutely sure Codefendant was the shooter. (R. 238). After Victim was shot, Daverican “Chocolate Pudding” Gregory exited the club and witnessed Codefendant and Appellant shooting guns near the end of the parking lot. (R. 109). Gregory testified Appellant was shooting “straightforward” while Codefendant was shooting in the air. (R. 109).

After being shot, Victim was able get back inside the club and ask for help. (R. 231, 239). Victim was shot in his abdomen near the lower part of his ribcage. (R. 211-12). Victim was initially taken to the Chester Regional Medical Center for treatment. (R. 209-10). Because of the severity of his injuries, Victim was transported to Carolinas Medical Center in Charlotte. (R. 212, 261-62). Victim spent approximately two weeks in the intensive care unit and was discharged from the hospital on January 19, 2019. (R. 264).

Appellant voluntarily came to the Chester County Sheriff's Office to speak with an investigator on December 28, 2018. Appellant waived his Miranda rights and gave a statement to Investigator Wade Young. (R. 344, 510). Appellant admitted he was at Club Images on December 24th with Codefendant. (R. 346-47, State's Exhibit #1). Appellant acknowledged he saw Codefendant fighting Victim. (State's Exhibit #1). Appellant also admitted he saw Codefendant shoot a gun three times and that he drove Codefendant away from the club after the shooting. (State's Exhibit #1). Appellant also conceded Codefendant had a gun with him in the car after they left the club and described the gun as "some type of 9." (State's Exhibit #1). At the conclusion of trial, Appellant was convicted of accessory after the fact to a felony while Codefendant was convicted of attempted murder, assault and battery first degree, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

I.

“When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Morgan, 352 S.C. 359, 364, 574 S.E.2d 203, 205 (Ct. App. 2002). “On an appeal from the trial court’s denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court may only reverse the trial court if there is no evidence to support the trial court’s ruling.” State v. Lindsey, 355 S.C. 15, 20, 583 S.E.2d 740, 742 (2003). When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict at the trial level, the appellate court “views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State.” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 235, 781 S.E.2d 352, 353 (2016).

II.

“The admission of evidence concerning past convictions for impeachment purposes remains within the trial [court’s] discretion, provided the [trial court] conducts the analysis mandated by the evidence rules and case law.” State v. Dunlap, 346 S.C. 312, 324 550 S.E.2d 889, 896 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal because the State produced evidence that Appellant: participated in the physical assault of Victim, fired a weapon along with Codefendant, and drove Codefendant away from the scene of the crime after Appellant acknowledged Codefendant had a gun and shot it three times.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred by refusing to grant Appellant a directed verdict of acquittal on the charge of accessory after the fact to a felony. In support of his argument, Appellant asserts it "was impossible to prove that appellant had knowledge that his codefendant committed attempted murder and assault or intended to assist with escape" because of the differing recollections of the shooting by various witnesses who testified at Appellant's trial. (Initial Brief of Appellant 9). On the contrary, the State produced evidence through the testimony of Victim, the testimony of Daverican Gregory, and Appellant's voluntary statement to law enforcement that Appellant: (1) participated in assaulting Victim, (2) fired a weapon along with Codefendant, and (3) drove Codefendant away from the scene after acknowledging he saw Codefendant shoot a gun three times. Therefore, evidence existed that Appellant knew Codefendant committed a felony and then helped Codefendant escape the scene shortly thereafter. Accordingly, the trial judge properly allowed the jury to determine the weight of the evidence presented when he denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal.

In determining whether a directed verdict should be granted, "the trial judge shall consider only the existence or non-existence of the evidence and not its weight." Rule 19 SCRCrimP. When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict at the trial level, the appellate court "views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State." Bennett, 415 S.C. at 235, 781 S.E.2d at 353. "On an appeal from the trial court's denial of a

motion for a directed verdict, the appellate court may only reverse the trial court if there is no evidence to support the trial court's ruling." Lindsey, 355 S.C. at 20, 583 S.E.2d at 742. When an appellate court reviews the sufficiency of the evidence to support a criminal conviction, "[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979) (emphasis in original).

In order to show a defendant is guilty of being an accessory after the fact, the State must prove "1) the felony has been completed, 2) the accused must have knowledge that the principal committed the felony, and 3) the accused must harbor or assist the principal felon." State v. Fuller, 346 S.C. 477, 480, 552 S.E.2d 282, 283 (2001). "The intent with which an act is done denotes a state of mind, and can be proved only by expressions or conduct, considered in the light of the given circumstances. Intent is seldom susceptible to proof by direct evidence and must ordinarily be proven by circumstantial evidence." State v. Tuckness, 257 S.C. 295, 299, 185 S.E.2d 607, 608 (1971). "Absent an admission by the defendant, proof of intent necessarily rests on inference from conduct." State v. Haney, 257 S.C. 89, 91, 184 S.E.2d 344, 345 (1971).

Here, the State presented evidence of Appellant's guilt through the testimony of Victim, the testimony of Daverican Gregory, and Appellant's voluntary statement to law enforcement. Victim testified Appellant was among the group of people who assaulted him outside of the club. (R. 233-34). Gregory testified Appellant and Codefendant were both firing guns in the immediate aftermath of Victim being shot. (R. 109). Finally, Appellant acknowledged in his interview with law enforcement that he witnessed Codefendant fire a gun three times and then drove Codefendant away from the club after the shooting. (State's Exhibit #1). When taken in

the light most favorable to the State, evidence was presented, both direct and circumstantial, that showed a felony had been completed, Appellant knew Codefendant committed the felony, and Appellant drove Codefendant away from the scene of the crime. Therefore, the trial judge did not err in refusing to grant Appellant a directed verdict of acquittal for the offense of accessory after the fact to a felony. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly refused to admit evidence of Victim's prior conviction for involuntary manslaughter because the conviction occurred outside the ten year time limit of Rule 609(b) SCRE and Appellant failed to establish the probative value of the conviction substantially outweighed its prejudicial effect. Finally, the State v. Colf factors weigh in favor of excluding Victim's prior conviction because Victim's credibility was not central to the State's case against Appellant.

Next, Appellant argues the trial judge erred in refusing to admit evidence of Victim's 2007 conviction for involuntary manslaughter. Specifically, Appellant asserts the conviction should have been admitted because "the event in question occurred the same year [Victim] was released from prison, and the interest of justice required [Victim]'s impeachment since the state's case hinged primarily on the credibility of [Victim] and his testimony." (Initial Brief of Appellant 10). Appellant's argument fails for three reasons. First, the shooting in question did not occur the same year Victim was released from prison, as Appellant asserts, but rather eleven years after Victim was released from custody. Thus, Victim's prior conviction occurred outside the ten year time limit of Rule 609(b) SCRE and was presumptively inadmissible. Second, Appellant failed to establish the probative value of Victim's conviction substantially outweighed its prejudicial effect. Finally, the State's case against Appellant did not hinge primarily on Victim's credibility but rather on the testimony of Daverican Gregory and Appellant's voluntary statement to law enforcement.

Rule 609(a)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence provides that when a party attacks the credibility of a witness, “Evidence that a witness other than an accused has been convicted of a crime shall be admitted, subject to Rule 403, if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year under the law under which the witness was convicted.” Rule 609(a)(1) SCRE. Similarly, Rule 609(a)(2) provides “evidence that any witness had been convicted of a crime shall be admitted if it involved dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment.” Rule 609(a)(2) SCRE. However, under Rule 609(b) SCRE, “Evidence of a conviction of any kind is not admissible if more than ten years has elapsed from the date of conviction or the release of the witness from confinement for that conviction...unless the proponent of the evidence establishes that the probative value of the conviction, supported by specific facts and circumstances, substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect.” State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 594, 828 S.E.2d 203, 210 (2019). “Rule 609(b) establishes a presumption against the admissibility of a remote conviction and places the burden of establishing admissibility of the conviction upon the proponent of the evidence.” Robinson, 426 S.C. at 595, 828 S.E.2d at 211. “It is intended that convictions over 10 years old will be admitted very rarely and only in exceptional circumstances.” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 18, 732 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012) (quoting Clay v. State, 290 Ga. 822, 725 S.E.2d 260, 273 (2012)).

The South Carolina Supreme Court enumerated five factors that our state’s trial judges must consider in determining the admissibility of a witness’s prior conviction. The five factors are: (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) The point in time of the conviction and the witness’s subsequent history; (3) The similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) The importance of the defendant’s testimony; and (5) The centrality of the credibility issue. State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 627, 525 S.E.2d 246, 248 (2000). Under Rule 609(b), “if the

conviction is a ‘remote’ conviction...the trial court must balance the Colf factors and determine whether the probative value of the conviction, supported by specific facts and circumstances, substantially outweighs its prejudicial effect.” Robinson, 426 S.C. at 595, 828 S.E.2d at 211. When the witness being impeached is not the defendant “some of [the Colf] factors must, as a practical matter, be adjusted.” Black, 400 S.C. at 19, 732 S.E.2d at 885.

Here, Appellant attempted to impeach Victim with evidence of his prior conviction for involuntary manslaughter. Victim was convicted of involuntary manslaughter in 2007 (R. 20). Victim served an active sentence and was released from custody on May 2, 2009. (R. 157). Appellant’s trial took place from February 3-7, 2020. In support of his motion, Appellant argued he was prejudiced by his case not being called for trial before May 2, 2019 when Victim’s conviction would have been less than ten years old and that Victim’s credibility was important to the case. (R. 158-60). The trial judge made the following ruling in response to Appellant’s motion:

The Court: Of course, the purpose of the admission of prior convictions for impeachment purposes is to allow the jury to determine the credibility of a witness based on that prior conduct, based upon a conviction of it, ordinarily that involves convictions that involved the fault or dishonesty or deceit, lying under oath, of the like. So I understand the prior convictions are not (sic) involuntary manslaughter, which is not a crime involving dishonesty, fraud or deceit, and it has been agreed upon, outside the ten year period where the rule provides that it is presumptively more prejudicial than probative. And I’ve not been provided any factor or circumstance that will make me believe that now it becomes more probative than prejudicial, and because I cannot articulate any reason to permit it in conflict with the rule I sustain the State’s objection to the use of it for impeachment purposes by doing an examination of [Victim]. However, should something occur during the examination that would otherwise open that door or permit it we’ll address that at that time.

(R. 161, lines 22-25 –R. 162, lines 1-15).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by refusing to admit evidence of Victim’s prior conviction for involuntary manslaughter. Initially, the trial judge correctly noted Victim’s

conviction occurred outside the ten year time period under Rule 609(b) which makes the conviction presumptively inadmissible. Appellant was convicted of involuntary manslaughter in 2007 and released from custody in 2009. (R. 20, 157). Because Appellant's trial took place in 2020, Victim's prior conviction falls outside of the ten year period under Rule 609(b).

Despite the remote nature of Victim's conviction, the trial judge could have admitted evidence of the conviction if Appellant had demonstrated the probative value of the conviction substantially outweighed its' prejudicial effect. However, Appellant failed to meet this burden. In support of his motion, Appellant could only argue he was somehow prejudiced by the State not calling the case for trial within five months of the shooting. (R. 158-60). Appellant was unable to offer any specific facts or circumstances that made evidence of Victim's prior conviction substantially more probative than prejudicial. (R. 158-60). Indeed, when making his ruling, the trial judge astutely pointed to Appellant's failure to offer any specific facts or circumstances that would establish the probative value of Victim's prior conviction. (R. 162, lines 7-9).

On appeal, Appellant argues the interests of justice required the trial judge to admit evidence of Victim's prior conviction because the State's case hinged on Victim's credibility. In making this argument Appellant appears to suggest the Colf factors weigh in favor of the admission of Victim's conviction because of the centrality of Victim's credibility to the State's case. While the trial judge did not weigh the Colf factors on the record, an examination of the factors reveals they weigh against the admission of Victim's prior conviction. Because Appellant only addresses one of the five factors in his brief¹, the centrality of the credibility issue, it is instructive to closely examine that factor.

¹ Although Appellant only addresses one Colf factor in his brief, the other factors nonetheless weigh against admissibility. First, because involuntary manslaughter is not a crime of dishonesty, the prior conviction has little impeachment value. Second, the record indicates Victim had no

Victim's credibility was central to the State's case against Codefendant, but not against Appellant. Victim testified that Codefendant shot him (R. 230-31, 238). Victim was the only witness who identified Codefendant as the shooter. Thus, Victim's credibility was very important to the State's case against Codefendant. However, Victim's credibility was significantly less important to the State's case against Appellant. Victim testified that Appellant was among the individuals who physically assaulted him outside the club. (R. 234). However, Appellant was not indicted for being an accessory after the fact to first degree assault and battery, but rather attempted murder. (R. 511-12). The relevant evidence that proved Appellant was an accessory after the fact to attempted murder came from the testimony of Daverican Gregory and Appellant's voluntary statement to law enforcement. Gregory testified Appellant and Codefendant were shooting guns in the parking lot. (R. 109). Appellant admitted to law enforcement that he saw Codefendant shoot a gun three times and drove him away from the club after the shooting. (State's Exhibit #1). Gregory's testimony and Appellant's statement prove that Appellant knew there was a shooting and that he transported one of the shooters away from the scene of the crime. Victim's testimony only proved Appellant participated in the physical assault that preceded the shooting. Therefore, Victim's credibility was of little importance to the State's case against Appellant. Accordingly, the fifth Colf factor weighs against the admission of Victim's prior conviction.

The current case presents a similar factual scenario to that which was considered by our Supreme Court in State v. Black. In Black the Court considered whether the trial judge erred in allowing the State to impeach a defense witness with a manslaughter conviction that occurred

other convictions from the date of his release from prison until the date of trial. (R. 20-21). Third, while Victim was initially charged with attempted murder, his charge was dismissed before Appellant's trial, thus making the third Colf factor inapplicable. (R. 365, 377). The fourth Colf factor is also inapplicable, because Victim was not the defendant in this case.

outside the ten year time limit under Rule 609(b) SCRE. In determining the trial judge erred in admitting the prior manslaughter conviction, the Court noted “the manslaughter offenses, while crimes of violence, are not crimes of dishonesty or untruthfulness that directly impact the witness’s veracity.” Black, 400 S.C. at 21, 732 S.E.2d at 886. Additionally, the Court noted the relevant witness had not been convicted of any additional crimes since his release from custody fourteen years prior to trial. Id. Here, like in Black, the trial judge was called to consider the admissibility of a manslaughter conviction that occurred thirteen years prior to trial. Like the witness in Black, Victim had no convictions in the eleven year period between his release from confinement and the date of trial. (R. 20-21). However, unlike the trial judge in Black, the trial judge here appropriately refused to admit evidence of Victim’s prior manslaughter conviction. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to admit evidence of the prior conviction because the conviction held little impeachment value, Victim did not have any additional convictions after his release from custody, and Victim’s credibility was of little importance to the State’s case against Appellant. Appellant’s conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.